THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUN 08 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-10-04387
Appellate Case No. 2021-000051

Applied Building Sciences, Inc. Appellant

vs.

South Carolina Department of Commerce, Division of Public Railways Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Gene M. Connell, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 1358)
KELAHHER, CONNELL & CONNOR, P.C.
The Courtyard, Suite 209
1500 U. S. Highway 17 North
Post Office Drawer 14547
Surfside Beach, South Carolina 29587-4547
(843) 238-5648 (phone)
(843) 238-5050 (facsimile)
gconnell@classactlaw.net

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN HOLDING THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR REESTABLISHMENT EXPENSES WAS LIMITED BY S.C. CODE § 28-11-30(4) TO FIFTY THOUAND DOLLARS (\$50,000.00)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Applied Building Sciences was a tenant at 1890 Milford Street, Charleston, South Carolina, when Defendant South Carolina Department of Commerce, a Division of Public Railways brought a condemnation action against Hibernian Heights, LLC (the Landlord) and Applied Building Sciences, Inc. (the Tenant). Applied Building Sciences, Inc. is an engineering firm and as a result of the condemnation was forced to move its business operations to a new location. Applied Building Sciences, Inc. applied for relocation assistance pursuant to South Carolina law (S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4)). The South Carolina Department of Commerce found that Applied Building Sciences, Inc.'s relocation expenses were limited by law to \$50,000.00 pursuant to S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4) and that S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4) was constitutional and limited Applied Building Sciences, Inc.'s damages. (R. p. 298). The parties agreed to sever this claim from the real property condemnation claim of Hibernian Heights and allow Applied Building Sciences, Inc. to file this lawsuit. The Release agreed to by the parties provided:

All rights of Landowner and/or Other Condemnee to appeal or contest matters involving Relocation Assistance are preserved and are not part of the settlement of this condemnation case. (R. p. 293).

Applied Building Sciences, Inc. immediately brought this lawsuit for inverse condemnation and asserted that S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4) was illegal in that it limits relocation and reestablishment damages and is a taking of Applied Building Sciences, Inc.'s property which violates both the South Carolina and United States Constitutions.

Applied Building Sciences, Inc. specifically argued to the Circuit Court that S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4) violates both the State and Federal Constitutions. S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4) states as follows:

Reestablishment expenses related to the moving of a small business, farm, or nonprofit organization payable for transportation projects pursuant to federal guidelines and regulations may be paid in an amount up to fifty thousand dollars, notwithstanding a lower limitation imposed by federal regulations.¹

The case was heard by the Circuit Court with Applied Building Sciences, Inc. and the South Carolina Department of Commerce, a Division of Public Railways both filing competing motions for summary judgment. The Court denied Appellant's motion and granted Respondent's motion in a Form Order. (R. p. 18). The Appellant then filed a Motion for Reconsideration. (R. p. 21). The Circuit Court then issued a written Order dated December 18, 2020 and found as a matter of law Applied Building Sciences, Inc. is not constitutionally entitled to recover reestablishment expenses in excess of \$50,000.00 and is statutorily limited to recover reestablishment expenses in an amount up to \$50,000.00. (R. p. 1). The Court thereafter denied the Motion for Reconsideration in a form Order. (R. p. 15). This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case involves a legal challenge to S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-30(4) (2020). Specifically, the circuit court found as a matter of law that S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-30(4) limits the amount of monies paid for reestablishment expenses for moving a small business from a condemnation to an amount less than \$50,000. (R. p. 1). Thus, the standard of review when an appellate court is called upon to decide a novel question is that this court is free to decide novel questions of law without particular deference to the lower court. *See. Ex Parte Capital U-Drive-It, Inc.*, 369 S.C 1, 630 S.E.2d

¹ Significantly the statute uses the word "may" which is permissive. Thus, the Court should hold S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4) is a supplemental remedy to any inverse condemnation action and does not bar Appellant's claim.

464 (2006). See also *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 607 S.E.2d 707 (S.C. 2005); *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 607 S.E.2d 63 (S.C. 2004); see also *Moriarity v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 534 S.E.2d. 672 (2000) (the Appellate Court is free to decide all questions of law with no particular deference to the lower court. See S.C. Constitution Art. V, §§ 5 and 9; S.C. Code of Laws Ann. § 14-3-320, § 14-3-330 and § 14-8-200); *Southern Railway Co. v. Coltex*, 285 S.C. 213, 329 S.E.2d 736 (S.C. 1985) (if an appeal is based on pure questions of law the Court of Appeals is required to decide the appeal on that ground); *Swindler v. Swindler*, 355 S.C. 245, 247, 584 S.E.2d 438 (S.C. App. 2003) (Court of Appeals is not bound by a trial court's legal determination); *Johnson v. Arbabi*, 347 S. C. 132, 553 S.E.2d 453, rehearing denied, reversed, 355 S.C. 64, 584 S.E.2d 111 (S.C. App. 2001) (Court of Appeals is free to decide issues presented with no particular deference to the trial court's findings when there are novel issues of law).

In this case, this court is called upon to determine the legality of S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-30(4) (2020) and its interplay with certain sections of the South Carolina and United States Constitutions. The South Carolina Constitution, Article I § 13(A) provides:

Except as otherwise provided in this Constitution, private property shall not be taken for private use without the consent of the owner, nor for public use without just compensation being first made for the property.

Also, the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution (U.S. Const. V) provides in part as follows:

... nor shall private property be taken for public use without just compensation.

Here, the sole question for the Court is whether reestablishment costs of a business are limited to S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4)'s provisions which provide that those costs may not exceed \$50,000.00. Appellant asserts this ruling by the Circuit Court is erroneous as a matter of federal and state constitutional law (including statutory construction) and that S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4) does not limit

reestablishment expenses because the statute uses the word “may.” See *State v. Hill*, 314 S.C. 330, 444 S.E.2d 255 (S.C. 1994) (For purposes of statutory and constitutional construction, the word “may” ordinarily signifies permission and generally means action spoken of is optional and discretionary); *Sherman v. W&B Enterprises, Inc.*, 357 S.C. 243, 592 S.E.2d 307, rehearing denied (S.C. App. 2003) (The use of the word “may” in a statute signifies permission and generally means that the action spoken of is optional or discretionary unless it appears to require that it be given any other meaning in the present state).

ARGUMENT

I. THE UNITED STATES AND SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTIONS DEMAND FULL COMPENSATION BE PAID FOR REESTABLISHMENT COSTS.

On June 13, 2017, the South Carolina Department of Commerce, Division of Public Railways filed a condemnation action against Hibernian Heights, LLC (Landowner) for property located at 1890 Milford Street, Charleston, South Carolina. Applied Building Sciences, Inc. was a long-term tenant of the property and was named as “Other Condemnee” in that action. The real property portion of the condemnation case was settled by the parties through a Release dated June 14, 2019. (R. p. 292). However, the parties could not agree that Applied Building Sciences, Inc. had a right to relocation and reestablishment costs in excess of \$50,000 (See S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4)). The parties agreed that Applied Building Sciences, Inc. was free to file and proceed in this action to present its claim that it was entitled to more than \$50,000.00 for reestablishment expenses. (R. p. 292).

Applied Building Sciences, Inc. thereafter filed this action for inverse condemnation pursuant to the United States and South Carolina Constitutions. Those provisions provide:

South Carolina Constitution, Article I, § 13(A) provides:

Except as otherwise provided in this Constitution, private property shall not be taken for private use without the consent of the owner, nor for public use without just compensation being first made for the property.²

The United States Constitution, specifically, the Fifth Amendment (U.S. Const. V) provides:

... nor shall private property be taken for public use without just compensation.

The South Carolina Department of Commerce paid Applied Building Sciences, Inc. \$50,000.00 pursuant to S.C. Code § 28-11-30(4) and informed Applied Building Sciences, Inc. that no additional reestablishment costs would be paid or is allowed by law. Applied Building Sciences, Inc. submitted a bill for its reestablishment costs in the amount of \$561,365.00, which is part of the record in this case. (See Affidavit of Alan Campbell (R. p. 210)).

Applied Building Sciences, Inc. asserts that the Constitutions of both the United States and South Carolina require full compensation in inverse condemnation actions of both personal and real property. The government cannot limit relocation expenses to \$50,000.00 and to do so violates the above cited sections of the South Carolina and United States Constitutions and is a taking of private property. The Constitutional imperative, with any exercise of eminent domain powers, is that the Government pay the “full and perfect equivalent” for whatever has been taken. *Monongahela Nav. Co. v. United States*, 148 U.S. 312, 325 (1893); *see also Olson v. United States*, 292 U.S. 246, 54 S.Ct. 704 (1934) (explaining that “[j]ust compensation includes all elements of value that inhere in the property.”); *United States v. Miller*, 317 U.S. 369, 63 S.Ct. 276 (1943) (“The owner is to be put in as good position pecuniarily as he would have occupied if this property had not been taken.” 317 U.S. at 373). In *Kimball Laundry v. United States*, 338 U.S. 1, 69 S.Ct. 1434 (1949), Justice

² Specifically, the Constitution does not distinguish between real estate and personal property and neither should this Court.

Frankfurter reaffirmed this principle, explaining that where a business seeks just compensation for its going-concern value, the “value compensable under the Fifth Amendment... is [] that value which is capable of transfer from one owner and thus of exchange for some equivalent.” 338 U.S. at 5.

The Supreme Court of the United States has defined the scope of “private property” in the Takings Clause very broadly, saying it includes “the group of rights inhering in the citizen’s relation to the physical thing, as the right to possess, use and dispose of it.” Courts have often recognized that the taking of personal property for public use requires just compensation under the Constitution. Examples of this can be found in *Brown v. Legal Foundation of Washington*, 538 U.S. 216 (2003) (relating to interest from IOLTA accounts); *Schneider v. Cal. Dept. of Corr.*, 151 F.3d 1194(9th Cir. 1998) (relating to interest from inmate funds placed in trust); *Nixon v. United States*, 978 F.2d 1269 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (holding that “taking” of presidential papers requires just compensation). As will be seen later in this brief, the Supreme Court has recently issued a strongly worded opinion requiring compensation for personal property and that there is no distinction for condemnation purposes. See *Horne v. Dept. of Agriculture*, 569 U.S. 513, 237, 576 U.S. 350, 135 S. Ct. 2419 (2015).

Thus, Plaintiff firmly believes that the State of South Carolina and its political entities cannot limit relocation expenses to \$50,000.00 (as it is property) and to do so violates the Constitutions of South Carolina and the United States.

II. OTHER STATE COURTS RECOGNIZE MOVING AND REESTABLISHMENT EXPENSES ARE NOT LIMITED IN CONDEMNATION CASES.

The Courts which have addressed this matter have recognized that moving expenses and reestablishment expenses demand full compensation and are not limited. In the landmark case of *Jacksonville Express Authority v. Henry G. DuPree Co.*, 108 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1959), the Florida Supreme Court held that moving expenses were allowed as a separate item outside of real property value. In *Jacksonville Express Authority* the Appellee was a corporation engaged in the heavy

construction business. Certain portions of its land were condemned and it was required to vacate its buildings and move its equipment and supplies to a new location three miles away. At trial, the jury found \$6,000.00 to be a reasonable amount for the costs of moving. The Florida Supreme Court reviewed Section 29 of Article XVI of the Florida Constitution which reads as follows:

No private property, or right of way shall be appropriated to the use of any corporation or individual until full compensation therefor shall be first made to the owner,....

The Court further noted:

We feel our constitutional provision for full compensation requires that the courts determine the value of the property by taking into account all facts and circumstances which bear a reasonable relationship to the loss occasioned the owner by virtue of the taking of his property under the right of eminent domain. 108 So.2d at 290.

The *Jacksonville Express Authority* Court then referred to a number of decisions in other jurisdictions that provided for the payment of personal property which had to be moved because of condemnation. Two cases were cited in *Jacksonville Express Authority* for the proposition that full compensation is guaranteed by the Constitution to those whose property is divested from them by eminent domain. The theory and purpose of that guarantee is that the owner shall be made whole so far as possible and practicable. See *Dade County v. Brigham, Fla.*, 47 So.2d 602 (1950) and *Housing Authority of Savannah v. Savannah Iron Wire Works, Inc.*, 91 Ga. App. 881, 87 S.E.2d 671, 675 (1955).

Further, the court observed that the burden of proving the cost of moving personal property was upon the condemnee and was a jury decision. See *Housing Authority of Shreveport v. Green*, 200 La. 463, 8 So.2d 295 (1942).

In sum, the Florida Supreme Court and the Georgia Supreme Court both subscribe to the theory that the Constitutional requirement of full or just compensation for appropriation of private property is one requiring a practical attempt to make the owner whole. A person who is put to expense

through no desire or fault of his own can only be made whole when his reasonable expenses are included in compensation. See *Jacksonville Express Authority*, 108 So.2d at 292 (affirming compensation for actual cost of moving personal property after finding such constitutionally guaranteed and not too speculative for consideration). See also, *Sabal Trail Transmission, LLC v. 18.27 Acres of Land in Levy. Cnty*, 208 F. Supp. 3d 1331 (N.D. Fla. 2017) .

In *Dep't of Trans. v. Gilling*, 289 Mich. App. 219, 796 N.W.2d 476 (2010), the issue was whether or not moving and relocation expenses were the only available means for compensation of those expenses under state law. The Michigan Court of Appeals held that claims for business-interruption damages did not allow for lost profits but did permit recovery of moving and relocation expenses (reestablishment expenses).

The Court in a well-reasoned opinion held relocation assistance acts are “not the exclusive remedy for reimbursement of moving and related expenses in those jurisdictions where such expenses are recoverable in a condemnation proceeding.” (796 N.W. 2d 477).

The Michigan Court also cited to *State ex. rel. Dep't of Trans. v. Little*, 2004 OK 74, 100 P.3d 707 (Okla. 2004) as controlling authority. In that case, the Oklahoma Supreme Court concluded that administrative reimbursement proceedings were “a supplementary scheme of recovery under which funds can be used to reimburse a person displaced from a home, business or farm by a [government] project for that person’s moving and related expenses where such expenses are not otherwise fully compensable under state condemnation law.”

The Court also observed:

This Court should never be unmindful that a Landowner is entitled to be compensated fully when the latter’s property is taken in the exercise of the eminent domain power. The mandate of the State and Federal Constitutions strongly supports full indemnification by just compensation.

The Michigan Supreme Court cited additional cases for that proposition. See *Malone v. Florida Dep't of Transp. Admin. Div.*, 438 So. 2d 857 (Fla. App. 1983), overruled in part by *Sys Components Corp. v. Florida Dep't of Trans.*, 14 So. 3d 967 (Fla. 2009); *Mississippi State Hwy. Comm. v. Rives*, 271 So. 2d 725 (Miss. 1972). These cases hold the owner of property is entitled to due compensation, not only for the value of the property to be actually taken as specified in the application, but also for damages, if any, which may result to him as a consequence of the taking.

The Michigan Court in *Dep't of Trans. v. Gilling*, 289 Mich. App. 219, 796 N.W.2d 476 (2010), also considered just-compensation principles under its own Constitution and the United States Constitution.³ The Court held that moving and relocation expenses and business-interruption damages were clearly allowed.

There is additional supporting case law in Michigan for this principle. See *Grand Rapids & I R Co. v. Weiden*, 70 Mich. 390, 38 N.W. 294 (1888). In *Weiden*, the Michigan Supreme Court observed that property owners were “using their property in a lucrative business in which the locality and its surroundings had some bearing on its value.” Therefore, the Court concluded that Appellants were entitled to compensation for their losses that resulted from interruption of their business in addition to the value of the property itself.” The Court in reversing a jury verdict because it failed to adequately compensate for business damages stated:

It appeared affirmatively, and without contradiction, that actual expenses of moving the business reached within a few dollars of all that the jury awarded for those purposes and for his buildings and improvements. The testimony shows that the buildings and improvements were of considerable value. The verdict is not only grossly unfair, but given without any reference to uncontradicted testimony. Juries have no right to disregard facts and follow their caprices. There is no reasonable ground on which the verdict can be sustained. *Weiden*, 70 Mich. at 395.

³ The Michigan Constitution is identical to the South Carolina Constitution. It states, “Private property shall not be taken for public use without just compensation.” (Article X, § 2 Michigan Constitution, eff. Jan 1, 1964).

In *Dep't of Trans. v. Gilling*, 289 Mich. App. 219, 796 N.W.2d 476 (2010), the Michigan Department of Transportation argued that state and federal statutes exclusively govern recovery for moving and relocation expenses. The Michigan Court easily dispatched that argument in light of the numerous condemnation cases it had analyzed and held that the administrative-recovery provisions supplement, rather than supplant, a property owner's constitutional right to receive just compensation for moving and relocation expenses as a result of a business interruption. The Court noted relocation and financial assistance allowed under the act are independent of and in addition to compensation for land, buildings or property rights and shall not be the subject of consideration in condemnation proceedings. In sum, relocation assistance acts are not the exclusive remedy for reimbursement of moving and related expenses and are recoverable in a condemnation proceeding.

The Court stated:

We find nothing in the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Act (FURA) (42 U.S.C. 4601, et seq.) to indicate that the administrative scheme that it creates was designed to precede resort to the courts..... The federal regulations implementing the FURA recognized that compensation made under judicial eminent-domain principles of state law may proceed the filing of a FURA claim and, when read in conjunction with 42 U.S.C. 4631(b), implicitly acknowledge that state law condemnation compensation may include items that would also be compensable under the FURA.

In reaching its opinion, the Michigan Court wrote “no act of the Legislature can take away what the Constitution has given.” See *Silver Creek Drain Dist. v. Extrusions Div., Inc.*, 468 Mich. 367, 374, 663 N.W.2d 436 (2003). Thus, the Michigan courts have repeatedly allowed a business owner to receive business-interruption reestablishment damages including moving and relocation expenses as constitutional just compensation for the taking of private property.

III. SOUTH CAROLINA LAW IS IN ACCORD WITH MICHIGAN.

South Carolina inverse condemnation law provides the appellant a remedy for uncompensated taking of property for public use. Applied Building Sciences, Inc., like all tenants, is entitled to

recover just compensation for all personal property taken or damaged for public use whether the damages are direct or consequential. Our courts have repeatedly upheld the constitutional right of South Carolinians for compensation when private property is taken for public use. See *Byrd v. City of Hartsville*, 365 S.C. 650, 620 S.E.2d 76 (2005); (both United States Constitution and South Carolina Constitution provide that if the government takes private property for public use, that it must compensate the owner for the value).

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