STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2019-CP-10-04387
Appellate Case No. 2021-000051

RECEIVED

MAY 27 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Applied Building Sciences, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Commerce,
Division of Public Railways,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Keith M. Babcock, SC Bar No. 456
David L. Paavola, SC Bar No. 100714
LEWIS BABCOCK L.L.P.
Post Office Box 11208
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 771-8000
Attorneys for South Carolina Department of
Commerce, Division of Public Railways

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

ARGUMENT

I. ABS Received South Carolina’s Statutory Limit of \$50,000 for Reestablishment Expenses.²

In South Carolina, businesses that are displaced because of condemnation are statutorily entitled to receive relocation assistance. S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-10, *et seq.* ABS received relocation assistance, including the statutory maximum of \$50,000 in reestablishment expenses, when it was required to move out of the Milford Property. (R. p. 35, ¶ 17). Because it has reached the statutory cap, ABS is not eligible to receive reimbursement for any additional reestablishment costs.

In 1970, the federal government, recognizing the potential hardships created for persons displaced as a result of condemnations, enacted the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, 42 U.S.C. § 4601, *et seq.* (“Relocation Assistance Act”), for projects using federal money.³ South Carolina’s relocation assistance statute expressly

² Sections I-III of Appellant’s argument are addressed in Respondent’s section II, and Respondent’s section III addresses Appellant’s argument sections IV-VII.

³ The Relocation Assistance Act specifically applies to state projects that involve federal dollars. *Norfolk Redevelopment and Housing Auth. v. Chesapeake and Potomac Telephone Co., of Virginia*, 464 U.S. 30, 32 (1983) (citing 42 U.S.C. § 4630).

incorporates all payments that are required to be made to displaced persons under the federal Relocation Assistance Act, and makes such payments mandatory on all projects in South Carolina regardless of whether state or federal funds are used. S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-10.⁴

The Relocation Assistance Act, and South Carolina's relocation statute, provides for payment of (1) actual moving expenses, (2) direct losses of tangible personal property as a result of moving, (3) actual reasonable expenses in searching for a replacement site, and (4) actual reasonable expenses necessary to reestablish a displaced business up to \$25,000. 42 U.S.C. § 4622. When incorporating the Relocation Assistance Act, South Carolina increased the cap on reestablishment expenses to \$50,000. S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-30(4). South Carolina's provision for reestablishment expenses is set forth as follows:

Reestablishment expenses related to the moving of a small business, farm, or nonprofit organization payable for transportation projects pursuant to federal guidelines and regulations *may be paid in an amount up to fifty thousand dollars, notwithstanding a lower limitation imposed by federal regulations.*

S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-30(4) (emphasis added).⁵ There is no cap on moving expenses.⁶ Public Railways communicated these eligible categories of relocation assistance to ABS. (R. p. 34, ¶ 13

⁴ South Carolina courts have recognized that condemning authorities are statutorily obligated to pay relocation assistance to displaced tenants regardless of whether a state project involves federal funds. In *Brown v. City of North Charleston*, 314 S.C. 298, 442 S.E.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1994), displaced tenants brought an action for relocation costs after being denied financial assistance to move by the City because the project did not have any federal funding. *Id.* at 299, 442 S.E.2d at 634. The court held that S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-10 requires relocation assistance to displaced tenants regardless of whether a project has federal funding. *Id.* at 300, 442 S.E.2d at 635. The court looked to statutory law, not constitutional, to reach this result.

⁵ Contrary to ABS's argument, the use of the permissive phrase "may be paid" does not render this section a "supplemental remedy," (App. Brief, FN1), to constitutional damages for a taking. In fact, it simply acknowledges that reestablishment costs may not be present in every case, and where reestablishment costs are present, they may go beyond the federal limit of \$25,000 up to \$50,000.

⁶ In this instance, among other eligible moving costs, Public Railways provided ABS with a bid of \$23,212.74 to move the majority of its personal property as well as a bid of \$7,250 to disconnect and reconnect IT/network equipment at the replacement location. (R. p. 60).

and R. pp. 59-62).

Eligible reestablishment expenses typically include items such as repairs or improvements to bring a replacement property in compliance with current building codes, modifications to make the replacement location suitable to conduct the business, installation costs for signage, redecorating or replacing worn surface such as paint or carpet, and two years of increased operating costs due to the move. (R. pp. 120-21) (following Federal Highway Administration Guidelines for the Relocation Assistance Act, 49 CFR § 24.303). Such expenses are reviewed by the condemning authority to ensure they are actual, reasonable, and necessary. *Id.*

ABS located a replacement property at 2308 Cosgrove Avenue in North Charleston and decided to undertake renovations, fully aware of the \$50,000 limit on reimbursement of reestablishment expenses. (R. p. 34, ¶ 14). On or about October 2017, ABS, through Mr. Campbell, submitted a claim for \$34,398.94 in reestablishment expenses for framing and demolition at 2308 Cosgrove Avenue. (R. p. 34, ¶ 15 and R. pp. 63-66). The claim form reflected the cap on reestablishment expenses of \$50,000, and a remaining balance after the initial payment of \$15,601.06. Mr. Campbell signed the claim form and Public Railways paid the first claim. (R. p. 34, ¶ 15 and R. pp. 63-67). On or about November 2017, ABS submitted a second claim for reestablishment expenses of \$16,543.44, but because it had reached the cap for reestablishment expenses, only \$15,601.06 was approved for payment. (R. p. 35, ¶ 16 and R. p. 68-70). Mr. Campbell signed this second claim form and Public Railways paid this second claim. (R. p. 35, ¶ 16 and R. p. 68-71). In total, Public Railways paid \$50,000 of reestablishment expenses to ABS. (R. p. 35, ¶ 17).

ABS now contends that it incurred more than \$560,000 in additional reestablishment expenses and that South Carolina's statutory cap on relocation expenses is unconstitutional and

cannot limit the amount that ABS can claim for reimbursement. (R. p. 228-29, ¶¶ 19-20). As one example of the type of expenses that ABS is attempting to claim in this lawsuit, it is seeking payment of more than \$110,000.00 for over 400 hours of site visits conducted by its owner, Alan Campbell, billing at a rate of \$285/hour. (R. p. 230-267). ABS is asking the government to pay for numerous employee/owner site visits and 100% of its leasehold improvements to its new location. ABS chose to renovate its newly leased location in amounts grossly in excess of the express statutory limit on reestablishment expenses. ABS was free to do so, and it will have the full benefit of its improvements, but it cannot now demand that Public Railways pay for these leasehold improvements. The statutory cap on reestablishment expenses prevents such gamesmanship that would result if a displaced business could spend an unlimited amount on renovations to a replacement location and demand repayment.

ABS has offered no basis upon which it can be said that the South Carolina General Assembly's statutory cap of \$50,000 for reestablishment expenses is repugnant to the constitution beyond a reasonable doubt. *Zeyi Chen*, 430 S.C. at 528, 846 S.E.2d at 871 ("A legislative act will not be declared unconstitutional unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear and beyond a reasonable doubt. A legislative enactment will be declared unconstitutional only when its invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no room for reasonable doubt that it violates a provision of the constitution." (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)). South Carolina's relocation assistance mirrors the federal Relocation Assistance Act and, in fact, has a more favorable limit on reestablishment expenses. The \$50,000 statutory limit on reestablishment expenses is not unconstitutional.

It is undisputed that ABS received the statutory maximum amount of reestablishment expenses. Because there is no dispute of fact on this issue, the lower court properly granted

summary judgment holding that as a matter of law because ABS has received the statutory cap of \$50,000 in reestablishment expenses under S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-30(4), it is not entitled to receive any additional reestablishment funds from Public Railways.

II. Constitutional Just Compensation Is Separate and Distinct From Statutory Relocation Assistance Benefits Offered to Displaced Businesses.

When Public Railways acquired the entire Milford Property through eminent domain it was constitutionally required to pay just compensation, which equates to the fair market value of the property acquired.⁷ The only property belonging to ABS that Public Railways acquired was its leasehold interest in the Milford Property, which Public Railways paid for when it settled the amount of just compensation. Separately, Public Railways paid statutory relocation assistance to ABS, as a displaced tenant, to move its personal property and help defray the costs of setting up at its replacement location. As part of relocation, ABS chose to make certain leasehold improvements to its new building, but at no point in time has Public Railways ever taken possession of, or deprived ABS the use of, these improvements; therefore, no additional constitutional just compensation is owed to ABS.

In South Carolina, the costs to relocate a displaced business from a condemned property are not constitutionally compensable and are not part of the equation of just compensation, but instead fall under a statutory framework for relocation assistance. South Carolina's Eminent Domain Procedure Act explicitly provides that "In determining just compensation, only the value of the property to be taken, any diminution in the value of the landowner's remaining property,

⁷ U.S. Const. amend. V ("nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation"); S.C. Const. art. I, § 13 ("private property shall not be taken . . . for public use without just compensation being first made for the property"); *Timmons v. S.C. Tricentennial Comm'n*, 254 S.C. 378, 407, 175 S.E.2d 805, 820 (1970) ("In a condemnation proceeding the issues are simple. The court is in quest of the reasonable fair market value of the property taken.").

and any benefits as provided in § 28-2-360 may be considered.” S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-370. In accord, South Carolina’s Relocation Assistance statute provides that: “Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as creating an element of damage in an eminent domain proceeding.” S.C. Code Ann. § 28-11-70. This distinction between just compensation and relocation assistance is consistent with how federal courts and South Carolina courts have interpreted constitutional just compensation.

The United States Supreme Court has long held that businesses displaced as a result of condemnation *do not* have a constitutional right to receive moving and related expenses. *United States v. Petty Motor Co.*, 327 U.S. 372, 377-78 (1946) (“Since ‘market value’ does not fluctuate with the needs of condemnor or condemnee but with general demand for the property, *evidence of loss of profits, damage to good will, the expense of relocation and other such consequential losses are refused in federal condemnation proceedings.*” (emphasis added)); *United States v. General Motors Corp.*, 323 U.S. 373, 379-80 (1945) (“Even where state constitutions command that compensation be made for property ‘taken or damaged’ for public use, as many do, it has generally been held that that which is taken or damaged is the group of rights which the so-called owner exercises in his dominion of the physical thing, and that damage to those rights of ownership *does not include losses to his business or other consequential damage.*” (emphasis added)). Federal district courts in South Carolina reflect the Supreme Court’s approach. *U.S. v. 7,215.50 Acres of Land*, 507 F. Supp. 228 (D.S.C. 1980) (“the expenses of relocation and other consequential losses *are not allowed* in federal condemnation proceedings” (citing *Mitchell v. United States*, 267 U.S. 341, 344 (1925); *United States ex. rel T.V.A. v. Powelson*, 319 U.S. 266 (1943) (emphasis added))).

South Carolina condemnation law follows federal takings jurisprudence in excluding moving and relocation costs for personal property from constitutional just compensation. *See*

Hardin v. South Carolina Dept. Transp., 371 S.C. 598, 605, 641 S.E.2d 437, 441 (2007) (“South Carolina courts have embraced federal takings jurisprudence as providing the rubric under which we analyze whether an interference with someone’s property interests amounts to a constitutional taking.”). “The Fifth Amendment Takings Clause concerns itself solely with the owner’s relation to the physical thing and not with consequential damages.” *Westside Quik Shop, Inc. v. Stewart*, 341 S.C. 297, 305, 534 S.E.2d 270, 274 (2000); see also *S.C. State Highway Dep’t v. Bolt*, 242 S.C. 411, 417-18 (1963) (“[I]t is the general rule that injury to or loss of business resulting from the taking is not considered as an element of damage in eminent domain proceedings in the absence of a statute expressly allowing such damages.”).

In *Creative Displays, Inc. v. South Carolina Highway Department*, 272 S.C. 68, 248 S.E.2d 916 (1978), the State Highway Department acquired a right-of-way easement that required the removal of an outdoor billboard. The sign owner refused to take down the sign and remove it from the easement, so the highway department removed the sign and stored it for the owner’s retrieval. *Id.* at 70, 72, 248 S.E.2d at 916-17. Creative Displays argued that it was entitled to just compensation for its sign, in part based on the federal Relocation Assistance Act where a federal agency was required to acquire an equal interest in fixtures and improvements that would be adversely affected by the land acquisition. *Id.* at 72, 73, 248 S.E.2d at 917, 918. The lower court awarded compensation but the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed, finding that because the sign was personal property (which could be moved) and not a fixture, the sign owner was not entitled to compensation. *Id.* To reach this result, the court looked to *South Carolina State Highway Department v. Smith*, 253 S.C. 639, 172 S.E.2d 827 (1970), in which it had previously ruled that personal property located on condemned realty was not compensable. *Creative Displays*, 272 S.C. at 72, 248 S.E.2d at 918 (“When land is taken under the power of eminent

domain, the ownership of personalty kept on the premises taken, but not permanently affixed thereto, is not affected: and the owner is entitled to remove same as was done here.” (quoting *Smith*). As it had in *Smith*, the South Carolina Supreme Court quoted with approval language from the North Carolina Supreme Court observing that:

‘A majority of the State Courts hold that, in the absence of a statute or agreement to the contrary, the removal costs of a stock of merchandise, or other personal property, and the breakages or other injury to such property caused by such removal, from a leasehold or fee in land, where there is an entire taking of the whole of the condemnee’s estate under the sovereign power of eminent domain, cannot be considered as an element of damage, since such loss is not a taking of property.’

Id. at 72–73, 248 S.E.2d at 918 (quoting *Williams v. State Highway Commission*, 113 S.E.2d 263, 266 (N.C. 1960) (citing numerous sources for this proposition, included courts in Illinois, New Hampshire, and Massachusetts)). Ultimately, the court ruled that the federal Relocation Assistance Act did not intend to provide compensation for personal property, and even if it did, it “cannot and does not change the South Carolina Constitution and statutory law,” that personal property is not compensable in condemnation where its owner is not deprived of its use. *Id.* at 73-74, 248 S.E.2d at 918.

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